Depression and Cognition in the Elderly

Sophia Wang^{1,2} and Dan G. Blazer^{1,3}

Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 2015. 11:331-60

First published online as a Review in Advance on January 12, 2015

The Annual Review of Clinical Psychology is online at clinpsy.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032814-112828

Copyright © 2015 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

Keywords

mild cognitive impairment, neurocognitive disorder, major depressive disorder, neuropsychological testing, neuroimaging, psychotherapy, antidepressants, brain stimulation therapies

Abstract

This review provides an overview of the relationship between depression and cognition in the elderly, with an emphasis on psychotherapies and nonpharmacologic approaches. We first review the clinical presentation of late-life depression and comorbid cognitive impairment, as well as the epidemiology and risk factors for cognitive impairment in late-life depression and the temporal relationship between depression and cognitive impairment. Next, we discuss the salient topic of elderly suicide and cognitive impairment. We then touch briefly on the neuropsychological deficits, biomarkers, and neuroimaging findings in late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment. We then focus most of this review on psychotherapies and nontraditional treatments for late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment and examine what evidence, if any, exists of the cognitive and functional benefits of these treatments. Finally, we examine the cognitive effects of pharmacologic treatments and brain stimulation therapies.

¹Department of Psychiatry and Behavior Sciences, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, North Carolina 27710; email: swang6@gmail.com, dan.g.blazer@duke.edu

²Durham Veterans Affairs Medical Center, Durham, North Carolina 27705

³Center for the Study of Aging, Duke University Medical Center, Durham, North Carolina 27710

Contents	
INTRODUCTION	332
Clinical Assessment and Management of Late-Life Depression	
with Comorbid Cognitive Impairment	333
Epidemiology and Risk Factors	334
SUICIDE AND COGNITION	
NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL DEFICITS	336
BIOMARKERS	337
APOE, Beta Amyloid, and Tau	337
Neurotrophins	338
Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis, Insulin Pathway, and Inflammation	338
NEUROIMAGING AND ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY	339
Structural MRI	339
Functional MRI	340
PET Imaging	341
Electrophysiologic Markers	
PSYCHOTHERAPIES	
HOLISTIC AND OTHER NONTRADITIONAL APPROACHES	345
Physical Activity	346
Cognitive Training	346
Technological Interventions	346
Religion and Spirituality	
Music, Art, and Dance Therapy	
PHARMACOLOGIC APPROACHES	348
Antidepressants	
Cholinesterase Inhibitors and N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Antagonists	350
Vitamins and Herbal Supplements	
BRAIN STIMULATION THERAPIES	
CONCLUSION	

INTRODUCTION

Late-life depression affects about 3.0–4.5% of adults 65 and older in the United States (Eden et al. 2012). Many depressed older adults often complain of cognitive symptoms, which range from normal cognitive aging to mild neurocognitive disorder to major neurocognitive disorder (dementia). Epidemiologic findings also suggest that late-life depression may be a preventable risk for dementia (Byers & Yaffe 2011, Steenland et al. 2012). Given the relatively high prevalence of depression in older adults and the growing focus on preventable risk factors for dementia, recent studies have begun to probe the complex relationship between depression and cognitive impairment. In this review, we focus on older adults who experience unipolar depressive symptoms without psychotic features [such as those with major depressive disorder (MDD) without psychotic features, subsyndromal depression, or depression with insufficient symptoms] and conjointly experience cognitive symptoms consistent with mild neurocognitive disorder (Am. Psychiatr. Assoc. 2013) or mild cognitive impairment (MCI). We do not discuss in depth the very complex relationship between late-life depression and dementia or treatments for dementia with comorbid depression

MDD: major depressive disorder MCI: mild cognitive impairment because these topics have been reviewed elsewhere (Byers & Yaffe 2011). Finally, in this article we continue to use the traditional terminology (particularly MCI) instead of the DSM-5 terminology for neurocognitive disorders given that this is the terminology used by most investigators.

Clinical Assessment and Management of Late-Life Depression with Comorbid Cognitive Impairment

Recognizing late-life depression itself can be challenging because of the wide variation in presentation (Blazer 2003). The clinical presentation, diagnostic interview, and workup of late-life depression have been discussed in detail elsewhere (Blazer 2003). Here, we focus on a few key points that may be helpful for the clinical evaluation of depressed older patients with comorbid cognitive impairment. The keys to making an accurate diagnosis of late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment are (a) obtaining detailed histories from patients and their informants; (b) following patients longitudinally, which can be useful in diagnosing more complex cases; and (c) being vigilant about the possibility that substance use and iatrogenic causes may contribute to patients' cognitive symptoms, since these may be reversible causes.

First, obtaining a detailed history from patients and their informants can be helpful to diagnose whether the patients have primary mood or cognitive disorders. There are no laboratory or neuroimaging tests that definitively diagnose late-life depression. Similarly, in the absence of available neuropathologic confirmation, the most effective clinical diagnostic tools of cognitive deficits are clinical history (including collateral from a reliable source) and examination, and, when appropriate, referral for a detailed neuropsychological evaluation. Informants can be especially helpful in giving a more accurate picture about patients' functioning. Patients frequently experience anosognosia about their cognitive deficits or alexithymia, so their collateral sources may give more detailed descriptions about cognitive deficits and mood symptoms. Patients may also experience diurnal variations in their depressive symptoms, and depending on the time of the medical appointment, they may appear better than they are during the rest of the day.

Second, following patients longitudinally can sometimes be useful in diagnosing more complex cases when clinicians are trying to decide whether the patient has a primary mood disorder, a primary cognitive disorder, or both. Clinicians should focus on whether patients' initial presentations are more consistent with depressive or cognitive symptoms. The longitudinal relationship between depressive and cognitive symptoms can also be helpful to the diagnosis. If cognitive symptoms worsen as depressive symptoms progress, this suggests the presence of a primary mood disorder. If cognitive symptoms worsen despite relatively stable depressive symptoms, this suggests a primary cognitive disorder. Clinicians should not feel pressured to make a definitive diagnosis and identify a treatment when they are uncertain about the diagnosis, unless there are emergent symptoms such as suicidality or severe psychotic symptoms (such as not having sufficient oral intake or being aggressive toward others) that are endangering the patients' immediate well-being. Longitudinal data from a second visit may bring up important historical points that patients may not feel comfortable sharing on the first visit.

Given the complexity of some of these cases, it may not always be possible to immediately distinguish whether patients have a primary mood or a primary cognitive disorder. In these more challenging cases, clinicians may wish to consider aggressively treating depressive symptoms first, and then reassess cognitive symptoms to determine whether they have resolved, persisted, or progressed. In general, we recommend initially treating mild to moderate mood symptoms with antidepressants and/or psychotherapy. The ability of the patient to participate in psychotherapy, however, will depend on many factors, including whether the patient is cognitively intact enough to participate. Electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) and other brain stimulation therapies are generally

ECT: electroconvulsive therapy

FDA: Food and Drug Administration MOCA: Montreal Cognitive Assessment reserved for treatment-resistant, severe, or life-threatening cases. Improvement in mood is more likely to result in noticeable subjective and functional improvement. On the other hand, no Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved drug therapies exist for MCI.

Third, clinicians should be vigilant about the possibility of potentially reversible causes of patients' mood and cognitive symptoms. Medications are probably one of the most overlooked but easily reversible causes of cognitive impairment. Benzodiazepines, anticholinergics, opiates, other types of pain medications, hypnotics, and antipsychotics may cause cognitive symptoms. A recent report from the Institute of Medicine estimated that about 5.6 to 8 million older adults experienced a mental health and/or substance use disorder (Eden et al. 2012). However, substance use in older adults is frequently not explored enough, particularly with regards to alcohol consumption and cannabis use (Blank 2009).

Readily available clinical tools for the assessment of late-life depression include the Geriatric Depression Scale (both the shorter 15-item and the longer 30-item one) (Sheikh and Yesavage 1986) and the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (Spitzer et al. 1999). The Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale is another scale that has been mostly used in the research setting, especially community settings, but may also have clinical utility (Radloff 1977). All of these depression-screening tools are available both on paper and online. Interview questions to assess insight into cognitive and behavioral changes include "Does she behave in a way without regard to the outcome and/or embarrassment to herself or other?" or "Does he minimize problems with his thinking or performance on everyday tasks without being aware of it?"

Cognitive screens for MCI and early dementia can help to detect the subtle cognitive deficits that co-occur with depression and to identify individuals who may benefit from neuropsychological consultation to further characterize their cognitive deficits. The Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) has been one of the most popular screens, but it may not detect more subtle impairment in executive functioning or cognitive impairment in highly educated individuals. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MOCA) has not been validated in large population studies of patients with late-life depression, but given the relatively high prevalence of comorbidity of MCI and early dementia with late-life depression, the MOCA can probably pick up subtler cognitive deficits compared to the MMSE (Nasreddine et al. 2005). Even with a normal MOCA score, however, subtle impairment in executive functioning (particularly in individuals with high cognitive reserve) may go undetected. Other screens that may probe more deeply into executive functioning include the QUICK EXIT (Campbell et al. 2014) and the Frontal Assessment Battery (Dubois & Litvan 2000).

Various scales are also available to measure functional impairment. The World Health Organization Disability Assessment Schedule 2.0 is a widely used measure and is available as one of the online assessments in DSM-5. It has been used in populations who are aging and have MCI (Kowal et al. 2010, Sosa et al. 2012). Other commonly used measurements include the SF-36 and its shorter version SF-12, which are generic measures that capture both physical health and mental health and are not designed for any particular population; and the Functional Assessment Questionnaire, which primarily captures impairment in independent activities of daily living and is used by the Alzheimer's Disease Research Centers.

Epidemiology and Risk Factors

The prevalence of depression in MCI ranges very widely. The population-based prevalence ranges from 3% to 83%, with a median prevalence of 44.3% in hospital-based settings and 15.7% in population-based settings. Conversely, the prevalence of MCI in depression ranges from about 30% to 50% (Bhalla et al. 2009, Reinlieb et al. 2014, Yeh et al. 2011).

As the population rapidly ages with a growing number of chronic medical illnesses, clinicians face the challenge of treating the triad of medical illness, depression, and cognitive impairment. The interactions between medical illness, depression, and cognitive impairment can be bidirectional, which can make it difficult to distinguish cause and effect. Apostolova et al. (2014) found that males, Caucasians, and those with functional impairment were more likely to have affective symptoms (including depression and apathy) in MCI and early Alzheimer's disease (AD). Vascular risk factors have long been associated with late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment, as reflected in the concept of depressive executive dysfunction syndrome (Sheline et al. 2010). Higher vascular burden in the context of late-life depression has been associated with a lower likelihood of improvement in working memory and executive functioning (Barch et al. 2012). Conversely, depressive symptoms also adversely affect the cognitive trajectory of those with coronary artery disease and diabetes (Freiheit et al. 2012, Sullivan et al. 2013).

Studies have also shown that diseases affecting other organ systems may affect mood and cognitive symptoms. Cognitive impairment in chronic renal failure has been associated with both depression and cognitive deficits in attention, memory, processing speed, and executive functioning (Elias et al. 2013), and depression may further exacerbate deficits in processing speed and executive functioning in chronic hemodialysis patients (Agganis et al. 2010). Some studies suggest that chronic obstructive pulmonary disease may also be associated with depression (Bratek et al. 2014, Doyle et al. 2013); and growing evidence suggests that chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is associated with MCI, particularly nonamnestic subtypes, although the strength of this relationship may be related to the duration and severity of the chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Singh et al. 2014).

SUICIDE AND COGNITION

The rate of suicide among people 85 and over in the United States is 17.8 deaths per 100,000 people, which is the second highest among all age groups, whereas those 65 to 84 years old have a suicide rate of 15.0 deaths per 100,000 people (Am. Found. Suicide Prev. 2012). These statistics support the argument that older adults, particularly white men, may inherently be at higher risk for suicide due to aging alone (Conwell et al. 2011), though it is depression that usually causes suicide. The ventromedial prefrontal cortices, which are important for reasoning and decision making, may become impaired even in older adults with normal cognition. Compared to younger adults, older adults with normal cognition have difficulty set-shifting their selections toward advantageous outcomes on a reward task, and in a study they were found to be more vulnerable to deceptive advertising on a real-world task (Denburg et al. 2007). Therefore, if a suicide attempt is seen as a deficit in reasoning and decision making, older adults, independent of any mood disorder and/or clinically significant cognitive impairment, may be at higher risk for suicide.

Attempted suicide may also reflect difficulties with social and cognitive processing in older adults with late-life depression and comorbid cognitive impairment. Compared to nonsuicidal depressed elders, depressed elders with suicide attempts have greater difficulties socially, as measured by social problem solving, social networks, and interpersonal relationships (Szanto et al. 2012). Furthermore, both older adults who attempt suicide and older adults who have suicide ideation but no suicide attempts have executive functioning deficits (Szanto et al. 2014). There may also be different risk factors for those with high-lethality versus low-lethality suicide attempts, although further studies will be helpful to confirm these initial findings.

Dombrovski et al. (2013) described two different neuroimaging patterns of suicide attempters during a reward learning task. The first type was impulsive suicide attempters who had blunted modulation of paralimbic structures in response to expected reward, and the second type was

AD: Alzheimer's disease

MRI: magnetic resonance imaging

depressed suicide attempters who had a weak signal in the thalamocorticostriatal region in response to unpredicted rewards and a maladaptive response to punishment. In a study testing whether individuals preferred a larger delayed monetary reward or a smaller immediate monetary reward, older individuals who made high-lethality suicide attempts preferentially selected larger delayed rewards over small immediate ones, compared to older individuals with low-lethality suicide attempts (Dombrovski et al. 2011). These neuroimaging studies suggest that the etiologies behind high- versus low-lethality suicide attempts may be different; the maladaptive sense of punishment causing high-lethality suicide attempts may be due to depression, whereas the need for immediate gratification causing low-lethality attempts may be more related to impulsivity.

Certain types of medical illnesses, such as end-stage renal disease and cerebrovascular risk factors, can be accompanied by comorbid depression and cognitive impairment, which in turn may predispose older people suffering from such illnesses to suicidality (Agganis et al. 2010, Chan et al. 2007, Kurella et al. 2005). Given that these medical illnesses have well-recognized psychiatric comorbidities and comorbid cognitive impairment, interventions in the primary care setting that target suicidality in these populations may be beneficial. Studies suggest that interventions such as the availability of a depression care manager in conjunction with medication management may have significant utility for depressed older individuals with cognitive impairment (Bogner et al. 2007, Steffens et al. 2006). Additional studies will be beneficial to determine whether or not these interventions may be useful for decreasing suicidal ideation not only in older adults with medical disorders, comorbid cognitive impairment, and suicidal ideation but also in the larger population.

NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL DEFICITS

A comprehensive review of the literature regarding neuropsychological deficits in late-life depression is beyond the scope of this review, and we strongly encourage readers to peruse other reviews that have elegantly covered the complex relationship between late-life depression and cognitive impairment (particularly dementia) (Byers & Yaffe 2011, Koenig et al. 2014, Morimoto & Alexopoulos 2013). Here we mainly focus on themes that are relevant in later sections about neuroimaging and treatment approaches (Byers & Yaffe 2011, Koenig et al. 2014, Morimoto & Alexopoulos 2013). Executive functioning has been used to describe various higher-order cognitive functions, including working memory, set-shifting, planning, and inhibitory control, and impairment of executive functioning is considered to be one of the classic signs of cognitive impairment in late-life depression. The depression executive dysfunction syndrome hypothesis suggests that cerebrovascular disease affects critical white matter tracts in the frontostriatal pathways, which results in the impairment of various cognitive functions, including executive functioning. Although impairment in multiple cognitive domains (including verbal and nonverbal memory and visuospatial functioning) has been observed, impairments in processing speed and executive functioning appear to be the core deficits that mediate deficits in the other domains (Morimoto & Alexopoulos 2013, Sheline et al. 2006).

Studies have tried to distinguish cognitive profiles for early-onset depression (defined as depression with initial onset before 60–65 years of age) and late-onset depression (defined as depression with initial onset usually around 60–65 years of age). One study of 60 geriatric inpatients found that late-onset depression was associated with higher ischemic burden, as quantified by magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and impairment of executive functioning and verbal and nonverbal memory (Salloway et al. 1996). In a larger study of older adults with late-life depression who had comorbid impairment in executive functioning, subjects with late-onset depression were more impaired on measures of verbal learning and memory than subjects with early-onset depression (Mackin et al. 2014b).

Longitudinal studies of cognitive trajectories of patients with late-life depression have been important in the characterization of cognitive outcomes. Baseline impairment in memory and executive functioning deficits in depressed patients appear to be risk factors for progression to dementia (Potter et al. 2013). Although there may be a bidirectional relationship between depression and dementia, the cognitive outcomes of subjects with late-life depression and comorbid cognitive impairment are highly variable. In a study examining 201 nondemented depressed older subjects with cognitive impairment, at the two-year follow-up about 25% reverted back to normal cognition, 15% progressed to dementia, and the remainder had persistent cognitive deficits but were not demented. Despite the well-established relationship between vascular disease and late-life depression, most of these cases progressed to AD rather than vascular dementia (Steffens et al. 2009). Bhalla et al. (2009) also found that amnestic MCI (particularly multidomain) and possible or probable AD in the elderly with remitted depression were the predominant forms of MCI and dementia, respectively. Although one might expect vascular dementia to be the predominant form of dementia, these data suggest that vascular risk factors in the context of late-life depression may simply accelerate the AD process (Koenig et al. 2014).

As discussed earlier, treatment resistance (particularly to traditional psychopharmacologic approaches) in late-life depression remains a challenge. Impairment in executive functioning is a classic hallmark of poor responders to psychopharmacologic interventions (Sneed et al. 2010), and it may persist even after treatment (Baba et al. 2010). In fact, older individuals with either subjective or objective impairment in executive functioning may respond more poorly or slowly to citalopram than to placebo (Manning et al. 2013, Sneed et al. 2010). Baseline impairment in other cognitive domains (including verbal memory and processing speed) has also been associated with poorer response to psychopharmacologic intervention at one-year follow-up (Story et al. 2008). Mackin et al. (2014b) proposed that impairment of verbal memory in late-onset depression may also present significant clinical implications for psychotherapeutic interventions that require learning of new procedures, but this hypothesis requires further exploration.

In summary, several major themes have emerged from the neuropsychological literature examining late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment. First, late-life depression has been traditionally associated with impairment in executive functioning, processing speed, and psychomotor speed. A number of studies, however, have also shown deficits in other cognitive domains such as episodic memory, processing speed, and visuospatial functioning, but a more careful, detailed characterization is needed to better understand the pathways. Second, the long-term outcomes of these cognitive deficits in the context of late-life depression vary widely, from complete to partial resolution, to persistence despite treatment, to progression despite treatment. Third, neuropsychological evaluation may be one of many valuable tools that may help characterize the likelihood of treatment response before a trial of treatment is attempted and to determine patients' response after the trial is completed. On the whole, the phenotypic heterogeneity of late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment suggests that this disorder may exist on a continuum, with varying degrees of severity and potential for recovery.

BIOMARKERS

APOE, Beta Amyloid, and Tau

Due to the overlap between late-life depression and cognitive impairment, a number of studies have examined the relationship between various markers in neurodegenerative disorders: apolipoprotein E (APOE) $\varepsilon 4$ variant, beta amyloid ($A\beta$), and tau. The results have been variable. Köhler et al. (2010b) found that depressive symptoms and the presence of the APOE $\varepsilon 4$ allele contribute

APOE: apolipoprotein E
Aβ: beta amyloid

independently to cognitive decline. Mackin et al. (2013) found that individuals with MCI and subsyndromal depressive symptoms were more likely to have a positive APOE $\varepsilon 4$ genotype compared to individuals with MCI alone. Likewise, Irie et al. (2008) found that in men who were depressed, depression increased the risk for dementia. Moreover, APOE $\varepsilon 4$ carriers with depression were 7.1 times more likely to progress to AD compared to non-APOE £4 carriers with depression, who were only 1.6 times more likely to develop AD (Irie et al. 2008). Bogner et al. (2009) found that there was no relationship between APOE status and depression (most notably, thoughts of death or suicide) with cognitive impairment. A more extensive study showed that plasma Aβ42 levels independently predicted late-onset depression and AD development in subjects who had never been depressed or did not have current cognitive impairment, suggesting a common biological etiology for these two conditions (Blasko et al. 2010). However, Metti et al. (2013) did not find a relationship between plasma Aβ42 levels and depression; they found, however, that a low plasma Aβ42/Aβ40 ratio was associated with an increased risk of incident depression in individuals carrying the APOE $\varepsilon 4$ allele, suggesting a complex interaction between depression, A β levels, and APOE. Sun et al. (2009) found that lower plasma Aβ42 levels and higher Aβ40/Aβ42 ratios were associated with depressed older adults, independent of APOE genotype.

Tau proteins are microtubule-associated proteins that are important for axonal transport and cell shape and play a significant role in neurodegenerative disorders. Hyperphosphorylated tau depositions (neurofibrillary tangles) are a common pathological feature of AD. Mutations in microtubule-associated protein tau result in tau protein aggregations and have been associated with frontotemporal dementia with parkinsonism linked to chromosome 17. A relationship between the tau protein and late-life depression has not been clearly established. One study suggested that those with MCI who converted to AD differed from those with late-life depression in that they had elevated cerebrospinal fluid of total tau and phosphorylated tau levels (Schönknecht et al. 2007). In an autopsy of subjects without cognitive impairment, brainstem tangles were associated with higher depressive symptoms, whereas in subjects with cognitive impairment, brainstem tangles were associated with fewer depressive symptoms (Wilson et al. 2013).

Neurotrophins

The role of neurotrophins in late-life depression continues to be investigated. Several studies of subjects with late-life depression report a deficiency of neurotrophins, including nerve growth factor, glial-derived neurotrophic factor, and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (Diniz et al. 2012, 2013; Erickson et al. 2012). Arnold et al. (2012) examined the cohort from the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging study, comprising individuals affected with subsyndromal depressive symptoms and whose cognitive status ranged from normal to MCI to mild AD. Interestingly, they found that vascular endothelial growth factor (involved in angiogenesis and neurogenesis) and hepatocyte growth factor (involved in long-term potentiation and response to ischemic injury) were increased in older patients with depressive symptoms. The authors proposed that the neurotrophin differences seen in this study might reflect potential compensatory responses.

Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis, Insulin Pathway, and Inflammation

Chronic stress, depression, and post-traumatic stress disorder have been associated with disruption of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. This disruption, in turn, may result in increased glucocorticoid levels and development of insulin resistance. Köhler et al. (2010a) did not find any relationship between cortisol levels and persistent cognitive deficits in late-life depression. On

the other hand, Arnold et al. (2012) found that depressive symptoms in a cohort of older adults whose cognitive status ranged from normal to MCI to probable AD were positively correlated with higher levels of insulin polypeptides and pregnancy-associated plasma protein A. Pregnancy-associated plasma protein A modulates the insulin pathway through its cleavage of insulin-like growth factor-binding proteins.

Chronic stress has also been associated with inflammation, and earlier studies have examined the role of inflammatory biomarkers in late-life depression and cognition. Depression in early to midlife may include cognitive symptoms associated with inflammation and hippocampal atrophy (Frodl et al. 2012). Repeated severe episodes of depression have also been associated with hippocampal atrophy (Sapolsky 2000). However, the study of the role of inflammation in late-life depression and comorbid cognitive impairment is still in its early stages.

In summary, there is only at best some modest evidence that pathways associated with neurodegenerative disorders, inflammation, and the hippocampal-pituitary-adrenal axis may play a role in late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment. More comprehensive studies with larger populations are needed to confirm some of these initial promising findings. One important unanswered question is whether a set of plasma or cerebrospinal fluid biomarker diagnostic profiles could facilitate the diagnosis/prognosis of those subjects with late-life depression who have or are more likely to develop cognitive impairment.

NEUROIMAGING AND ELECTROPHYSIOLOGY

Structural MRI

The vascular hypothesis suggests that cerebrovascular disease is a major contributor to the development of late-life depression. The burden of white matter lesions secondary to cerebrovascular disease is higher in depressed older adults. MRI studies of subjects with late-life depression have shown a correlation between severity of depression and white matter hyperintensities, which are primarily structural changes from cerebrovascular disease (Krishnan et al. 2004, Taylor et al. 2013); similarly, white matter lesions in the bilateral superior longitudinal fasciculus, right fronto-occipital fasciculus, and left uncinate fasciculus are associated with executive dysfunction in late-life depression (Sheline et al. 2008). Furthermore, compared to older adults with only MCI, older adults with both late-life depression and MCI have higher rates of white matter atrophy in the bilateral frontal, temporal, and parietal regions (Lee et al. 2012).

A number of studies have found changes in gray matter in late-life depression, suggesting that late-life depression may be a prodrome to AD. Hippocampal atrophy has been associated with higher severity of depression in nondemented individuals (Taylor et al. 2014). In older individuals with MCI, depression was associated with reduced thickness of the entorhinal cortex and higher rates of atrophy in the anterior cingulate cortex (Zahodne et al. 2013). Interactions between late-life depression and amnestic MCI were associated with smaller volumes throughout the gray matter, including the bilateral dorsal anterior cingulate cortex, right hippocampus, and bilateral dorsomedial and ventromedial prefrontal cortices (Xie et al. 2012).

Structural imaging may also have some potential utility for predicting treatment response in late-life depression with cognitive impairment. Alexopoulos et al. (2008) found that microstructural white matter damage throughout the brain (including multiple frontal regions) was associated with poorer antidepressant response. Marano et al. (2015) found that after citalopram treatment, depressed patients with larger volumes of gray matter in the frontal areas showed better performance in verbal memory and verbal fluency.

Table 1 Networks affected in late-life depression

NI-4	Comments	Functions	Associated deficits in
Network	Components		late-life depression
Default mode network	Medial prefrontal cortex	Internal monitoring	Persistent negative
	Posterior cingulate cortex	Autobiographical memory	rumination
	Precuneus	retrieval	
	Medial temporal lobe	Future planning	
		Theory of mind	
Cognitive control	Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex	Decision making	Attention and working
network	Dorsal anterior cingulate cortex	Working memory	memory impairments
	Posterior parietal cortex	Task switching	Slowed processing speed
Affective/frontolimbic	Amygdala	Emotional processing	Apathy
cortex	Subgenual anterior cingulate cortex	Motivation of behavior	
	Hypothalamus		
	Orbitofrontal cortex		
	Nucleus accumbens		
Corticostriatal circuits	Loop 1:	Loop-specific mediation	Apathy
	Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex → dorsolateral	of motor, executive	Anhedonia
	caudate nucleus → globus pallidus (lateral	control, or emotional	
	dorsomedial part) → thalamus (ventral	behavior	
	anterior nucleus part) → thalamus	Reward processing	
	Loop 2:		
	Lateral orbitofrontal cortex → ventromedial		
	caudate nucleus → globus pallidus (medial		
	dorsomedial part) → thalamus (medial ventral		
	anterior nucleus part)		
	Loop 3:		
	Anterior cingulate cortex → ventral striatum		
	→ globus pallidus → thalamus (medial dorsal		
	nucleus, posteromedial part)		

Source: Tadayonnejad & Ajilore (2014).

Functional MRI

Several key themes have emerged from functional MRI studies of late-life depression that may revolutionize our current understanding (particularly diagnosis and treatment) of late-life depression. First, we now better understand late-life depression as a disruption of particular networks. Previous models had characterized late-life depression as the result of structural lesions, but more recent functional MRI studies have helped us to understand which networks may be disrupted in late-life depression. These networks include the default mode network, the affective/frontolimbic network, the cognitive control network, and the corticostriatal networks (Tadayonnejad & Ajilore 2014). **Table 1** describes the major functions and anatomical components of these networks. Second, it has been proposed that certain observed clinical features (such as apathy and executive dysfunction) may be localized to the disruption of certain networks. For example, the cognitive control network and corticostriatal networks have been linked to cognitive dysfunction in late-life depression. Third, a better understanding of these networks may be helpful in our comprehension of treatment response or lack of response to both medications and therapy. In one study, resting functional connectivity of the cognitive control network predicted low remission rates after a therapeutic trial of escitalopram (Alexopoulos et al. 2012). In another study, Thompson et al.

(2015) observed patterns of activation and deactivation in the frontal lobes during functional MRI on the Wisconsin Sorting Test that predicted response to cognitive behavioral therapy; however, performance on the Wisconsin Sorting Test itself did not predict response to cognitive behavioral therapy, suggesting that functional MRI provides additional valuable data that are not available from neuropsychological assessment alone.

PET Imaging

One study found that in some patients with late-life depression and MCI, Pittsburgh compound B imaging showed a pattern suggestive of AD (Butters et al. 2008), although another study did not find any relationship between patients who had remitted late-life depression and Pittsburg compound B results (Madsen et al. 2012). In a study looking at binding by 2-(1-{6-[(2-[fluorine-18]fluoroethyl)(methyl)amino]-2-naphthyl}ethylidene)malononitrile (FDDNP) to amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, depressive symptoms in MCI subjects were associated with increased lateral temporal binding, whereas depressive symptoms in cognitively normal subjects were associated with increased medial temporal binding (Lavretsky et al. 2009). On the other hand, Kumar et al. (2011) found that compared to healthy controls, subjects with late-life depression and minimal cognitive impairment had higher [18F]FDDNP binding in the posterior cingulate and lateral temporal regions. These differences in binding suggest that the pathophysiology behind the development of depressive symptoms with comorbid cognitive impairment may possibly be different from that of depressive symptoms with normal cognition, but larger studies are needed to clarify which regions are affected.

Electrophysiologic Markers

A few studies have examined the utility of EEG and other electrophysiologic markers such as event-related potentials in late-life depression. Köhler et al. (2011) found that compared to non-depressed older subjects, subjects with late-life depression had more slow-wave activity and prolonged P300_a latencies, which suggested that the depressed subjects had decreased cerebral arousal and information processing. In another study that examined cognitive control as measured by response inhibition on a more demanding variant of the Go/No-Go task, the N2 component of the event-related potential was significantly decreased in subjects with late-life depression as compared to nondepressed older adults. This deficit was localized to the anterior cingulate cortex, which strongly suggested that late-life depression was associated with a frontal inhibitory deficit (Katza et al. 2010). Another study found that deficits in preattentive auditory processing in late-life depression were associated with poorer semantic fluency and higher levels of functional disability; interestingly, this impairment of preattentive auditory processing was localized to the temporal but not the frontocentral area (Naismith et al. 2012).

In summary, neuroimaging and electrophysiological studies have transformed our understanding of cognitive impairment of late-life depression. Various neuroimaging modalities have indicated that several networks are responsible for comorbid cognitive impairment in late-life depression. Although the clinical guidelines for the assessment of late-life depression with cognitive impairment do not require neuroimaging, these recommendations may change as neuroimaging may start to play a greater role in the characterization of late-life depression, particularly with regard to the disruption of networks leading to cognitive impairment. Neuroimaging and electrophysiological studies may also help to predict which individuals have a higher likelihood of responding to psychotropics and psychotherapies for late-life depression. The evidence for the

FDDNP:

2-(1-{6-[(2-[fluorine-18]fluoroethyl)-(methyl)amino]-2naphthyl}ethylidene)malononitrile utility of electrophysiologic biomarkers in late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment is promising, but more detailed and larger studies will be needed to confirm these initial findings.

PSYCHOTHERAPIES

Although clinicians often do not view older adults with cognitive impairment as candidates for psychotherapy, several effective evidence-based psychotherapies have been developed over the years to target this population. Many older depressed adults do not respond to antidepressants, despite multiple trials of different medications; are reluctant to take them because of cost, stigma about taking psychotropics, or concern about polypharmacy; or are not able to tolerate psychotropics due to their side effects. Even when older patients take an antidepressant, the rate of an adequate response is about 50% after an optimal trial of first-line antidepressant, and psychotherapies can be used as an adjunct treatment to alleviate residual symptoms (Lenze et al. 2008). Time-limited therapies for late-life depression have become popular because of the reimbursement limitations imposed by insurance companies and the financial and physical burden of traveling to appointments. Some therapies, particularly cognitive behavioral therapy, have also been adapted to address other symptoms such as insomnia and psychosis. Due to limited space, we focus mostly on therapies that are geared towards older people with depression, particularly on therapies that have been modified for those with comorbid cognitive impairment.

One of the most common psychotherapies is supportive therapy. The purpose of supportive therapy is to build the therapeutic alliance and the patient's self-esteem through an empathic, nonthreatening approach. Supportive therapy is often used as a comparator in psychotherapy trials, and a number of studies suggest that specialized, time-limited psychotherapies may be superior to supportive therapy. Nevertheless, supportive therapy is still valuable as an intervention for latelife depression for several reasons. First, supportive therapy does not require specialized training and materials, and therefore it remains quite popular among mental health clinics as a first-line therapy. Second, psychotherapy trials have shown that supportive therapy is feasible in depressed older individuals with executive dysfunction (Areán et al. 2010) and can be modified to be used in homebound individuals with depression and comorbid cognitive impairment (Kiosses et al. 2010). Third, one study suggested that supportive therapy may even improve information processing speed by ameliorating depressive symptoms; however, this type of therapy did not affect executive functioning, verbal learning, and memory in older adults with late-life depression and executive dysfunction (Mackin et al. 2014a).

Reminiscence therapy, in which older adults use storytelling as a means of reducing depressive symptoms, is based on Erikson's developmental theory, according to which the final stage of psychosocial development is accompanied by feelings of either integrity or despair. The goal of therapy is to assist the individual as she/he seeks purpose and meaning in life before death. There are various types of reminiscence therapy, including structured and unstructured approaches. Several studies have shown that reminiscence therapy can be utilized in demented populations, but its utility in patients with late-life depression and comorbid MCI has not been well studied.

Cognitive behavioral therapy was developed by Dr. Aaron Beck in the 1960s to treat depression, and it has subsequently been modified to treat a wide range of disorders including anxiety, insomnia, post-traumatic stress disorder, psychosis, substance use, personality disorders, and obsessive-compulsive disorder. In cognitive behavioral therapy, patients are taught how to identify the connections between their thoughts, feelings, and actions, and they learn skills to more effectively manage their emotions. Patients learn to identify cognitive distortions such as catastrophizing or black-and-white thinking, which encourages them to adopt a more realistic viewpoint. In addition, the cognitive behavioral therapist helps patients to identify and engage in activities

that are enjoyable and valuable to them. Patients are strongly encouraged to try out these new skills and behaviors outside of the therapy sessions and to use the therapist as a coach and advisor in implementing changes. A few studies have examined the use of modified cognitive behavioral therapy in patients with dementia, but only one small study of cognitive behavioral therapy in patients with MCI suggested that group cognitive behavioral therapy (modified to include both patients with MCI and their caregivers) had high attendance rates, increased patients' acceptance of cognitive deficits, and possibly improved marital satisfaction (Joosten-Weyn Banningh et al. 2008). In addition, one study suggested that older depressed people with cognitive complaints experienced improved depressive symptoms from cognitive bibliotherapy, in which patients learn cognitive behavioral therapy skills from a book (Scogin et al. 2014). Additional studies may be helpful to determine the utility of cognitive behavioral therapy in patients with MCI.

Interpersonal therapy for depression was developed by Drs. Klerman and Weissman and focuses on interpersonal functioning. Like cognitive behavioral therapy, it is usually time-limited (usually 12-16 weeks), but unlike cognitive behavioral therapy, there is no homework component and depression is seen as a medical illness (which often appeals to older people who may view depression as a stigmatizing illness). The therapy is based on identifying interpersonal problems and then working through these problems via a behavioral/educational approach. A modified version of interpersonal therapy for cognitively impaired individuals was developed because depressed individuals with cognitive impairment (MMSE < 27/30) were having difficulties with identifying problems to focus on in therapy and with retaining the psychotherapeutic process to build on previous sessions (Miller et al. 2007). The main differences between traditional interpersonal therapy and interpersonal therapy for cognitive impairment are the involvement of the caregiver to help the patient recognize the role transition and the use of specific techniques that address role conflicts related to caregiving. One study found that subjects with lower cognitive functioning who received paroxetine and monthly maintenance interpersonal therapy for 2 years had a significantly longer period until recurrence (41 weeks) compared to standard clinical care (Carreira et al. 2008). Curiously, this effect was not observed for individuals who were cognitively normal, which suggests some possible benefits for individuals with cognitive impairment, although further studies will be needed to confirm this finding.

Problem-solving therapy is probably one of the most carefully studied time-limited therapies designed for late-life depression and comorbid cognitive impairment, particularly for older adults with depression and comorbid executive dysfunction. Problem-solving therapy is based on the idea that depressed people are ineffective problem solvers; through a structured approach, problemsolving therapy teaches depressed people how to solve problems more effectively and, as a consequence, how to better manage their daily lives and improve their mood. Problem-solving therapy is usually administered over a 12-week course and includes the following sessions: psychoeducation about how depression affects problem-solving skills; creation of a problem list; and instruction according to a 7-step problem-solving approach. This 7-step problem-solving approach includes: recognizing the problem, deconstructing the problem into concrete steps, defining the target outcome, generating multiple possible solutions, choosing the optimal solution, deciding when and how to implement the solution, and verifying the effectiveness of the implemented solution. Like cognitive behavioral therapy, problem-solving therapy also focuses on behavioral activation, especially during the first five weeks, but then switches its focus to problem-solving skills, which makes it different from cognitive behavioral therapy. Problem-solving therapy differs from interpersonal therapy in that interpersonal therapy focuses on how patients are interacting with others, whereas problem-solving therapy focuses on developing problem-solving skills.

In a multisite clinical trial of 221 older adults with depression and executive dysfunction that compared problem-solving therapy and supportive therapy, problem-solving therapy was shown

to reduce depressive symptoms and to reduce disability at the end of 12 weeks of treatment. The effect on disability persisted 2 months after therapy was terminated and was more pronounced in patients who had greater cognitive impairment. This effect on disability appears to be mostly related to problem-solving therapy's efficacy for reduction of mood symptoms (Alexopoulos et al. 2011). There does not appear to be any difference between problem-solving therapy and supportive therapy on cognitive symptoms; those who had improved depressive symptoms also had improved information processing speed, but no effects were seen for executive functioning, verbal learning, and memory (Mackin et al. 2014a). PROMISE-D is an ongoing randomized controlled trial to examine whether problem-solving therapy, cognitive behavioral therapy, or enhanced treatment as usual is more effective for patients with late-life major or minor depression who also have at least one comorbid chronic health problem (Sharpe et al. 2012). The outcomes will include executive function, rumination, and emotion regulation.

Problem-solving therapy has also been modified for other settings. The IMPACT study compared problem-solving therapy in primary care versus community-based psychotherapy in older depressed adults. Compared to older adults who received community-based psychotherapy, older adults who received problem-solving therapy in primary care had fewer depressive symptoms and better functioning at 12 months, but there were no differences between the two groups at 24 months (Areán et al. 2008). There was no characterization of cognitive impairment in this study, so the utility of problem-solving therapy in primary care for depression and comorbid cognitive impairment cannot be determined. Problem adaptation therapy is another modified version of problem-solving therapy that accommodates the patient's home environment using environmental adaptation tools and caregiver participation. One preliminary study in homebound older individuals with cognitive impairment (including MCI and early dementia) compared 12 weeks of home-delivered problem adaptation therapy with home-delivered supportive therapy, and it showed that problem adaptation therapy was more efficacious at decreasing depression and disability at 12 weeks compared to supportive therapy (Kiosses et al. 2010). Interestingly, baseline overall cognitive impairment or executive impairment was not associated with the efficacy of either type of psychotherapy, nor did it moderate effects on depression or disability. Further studies will be needed to confirm the utility of problem adaptation therapy.

Technology-based psychotherapies are another promising area to increase accessibility to mental health services, particularly in rural areas where travel times are long and provider availability is limited. Tele-problem-solving therapy was shown to be a well-accepted and efficacious psychotherapy modality to treat depression in depressed, low-income homebound adults, but this study excluded patients with dementia and focused on a younger population (50 to 64 years old) (Choi et al. 2014). One small study showed that Internet-based cognitive therapy in older depressed adults was feasible and resulted in mood improvement symptoms (Dear et al. 2013). Both these findings will need to be replicated in larger studies and tested in patients with comorbid cognitive impairment. Mobile health, in which mobile phone applications (apps) are used for mood monitoring, behavioral interventions such as smoking cessation and weight loss, and delivery of therapies, may become an important tool for mental illness treatments (Donker et al. 2013b). Although no studies have shown whether apps can ameliorate mood and cognitive symptoms in late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment, mobile health has tremendous potential to change our current models of face-to-face psychoeducation and psychotherapy. Some potential directions include the development of apps to combine depression treatments with computerized cognitive training to address cognitive deficits or prevent cognitive decline for those at higher risk of decline; another example would be the development of psychoeducation tools for caregivers, especially children of older depressed adults who may have work and childcare responsibilities and may be unable to attend appointments in person.

In summary, many types of psychotherapies have been used in older adults with depression, but only three have been specifically modified to address cognitive impairment in depressed older adults: interpersonal therapy for cognitive impairment, problem-solving therapy, and problem adaptation therapy. Ongoing work to develop and test technology-based and home-based psychotherapies will be important to increase access for older adults who may have been excluded from psychotherapy due to physical restrictions. Problem-solving therapy has probably the strongest evidence for depression and comorbid cognitive impairment; and the observed improvement in disability is most likely mediated by its relief of depressive symptoms. Little effect on cognition, other than improvement of information processing, was observed. On the whole, this evidence suggests two possible (and not mutually exclusive) possibilities: (a) these psychotherapies target pathways that mediate the affective component but not the cognitive component of late-life depression; or (b) these cognitive deficits result from a pathway that is distinct from that of late-life depression. We found little to no evidence for family-based psychotherapy or psychodynamic psychotherapy in individuals with late-life depression and comorbid cognitive impairment. Given the frequency of comorbid depression and cognitive impairment, and the continued importance of psychotherapy for the treatment of depression, this area is ripe for future study.

HOLISTIC AND OTHER NONTRADITIONAL APPROACHES

Despite fairly strong evidence of the efficacy of pharmacologic and specialized psychotherapy approaches, clinicians may find it easier to persuade older patients to use holistic and other non-traditional approaches (such as physical activity, music or art therapy, or meditation), particularly if these patients have not previously received mental health treatment. There are at least three reasons for this. First, holistic and other nontraditional interventions, which often have not been designed for any specific disease and are used by many persons without mood or cognitive symptoms, may be viewed by patients as more acceptable. For older adults who resist the idea of taking medications or participating in a manualized therapy, and for providers who recognize the advantages of nontraditional interventions, a number of these approaches can represent further possible therapeutic tools that can be implemented with relatively little harm. Then, as the therapeutic alliance develops, the clinician can work with the patient to determine whether there is need for more traditional, evidence-based approaches. Alternatively, these types of interventions may also be used as adjunctive treatments with patients whose symptoms have not fully remitted in response to traditional treatments.

Second, older adults often have comorbid physical diseases that they may initially find easier to discuss with their clinicians than depression and cognitive problems. Since many holistic and non-traditional approaches have been shown to have value for a wide range of physical diseases, these approaches may be potentially effective tools to address both mental and physical health issues in older patients, as long as their medical providers are in agreement. Third, the mental health community is acquiring a growing appreciation of technologically diverse (as reflected by the development of apps for behavioral approaches in other mental health diseases) and culturally diverse (as reflected by the newly available board certification in Integrative and Holistic Medicine) approaches and of alternative and complementary medicine. Many of the approaches we discuss, such as meditation, art therapy, or spiritual exercises or practices, are challenging to study because some of their intrinsically subjective qualities cannot be rigorously and precisely defined. Although this may be seen as a difficulty, it is also inherently part of the beauty of these treatments, and it brings back the "art" as we realize the limits of our own understanding of the science of late-life depression.

We discuss a wide range of holistic and other nontraditional interventions—including physical activity and cognitive activity, lifestyle interventions, technological interventions, religion

and spirituality, and music, art, and dance therapy—for which there is an emerging body of evidence with regard to depression and comorbid cognitive impairment and/or which have shown promising results in research; however, due to space limitations, we do not cover all nontraditional approaches, such as psychoeducation for lifestyle interventions (Norrie et al. 2011), social support, volunteering, and light therapy.

Physical Activity

The evidence suggests that physical activity has modest benefits for late-life depression and cognitive impairment. Proposed mechanisms for the benefits of physical activity, based on animal models and human studies, include: biochemical effects on neurotrophic factors, neurotransmitters such as the serotonin transporter system, and the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis; neuroprotective effects on various areas, including the hippocampus frontal lobes; and modulation of the default network as visualized on functional MRI studies. A number of clinical trials have also shown beneficial effects of physical activity for cognition as well as depression, and these are detailed elsewhere (Erickson et al. 2013). However, large-scale clinical trials demonstrating that physical activity has therapeutic benefit for mood and/or cognition symptoms in late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment remain to be reported, and at this time, the hypothesis that physical activity may affect the interaction between late-life depression and cognitive impairment requires further exploration.

Cognitive Training

Cognitive training is a structured intervention in which patients practice cognitively demanding tasks, such as computer exercises, to either protect or enhance their current levels of cognitive abilities. Some evidence suggests that cognitive training may have cognitive benefits in depressed older adults. For example, Naismith et al. (2011) found that after receiving a cognitive training and psychoeducation intervention, older adults with a history of well-controlled MDD had benefits in memory performance. Mowszowski et al. (2014) also demonstrated that cognitive training in a small group of individuals with MCI or late-life depression resulted in improvements in verbal fluency and subjective memory difficulties. Exergaming (video gaming that combines entertainment and physical activity) is another modality that may provide cognitive benefits (Anderson-Hanley et al. 2012). One small study suggested that exergaming in late-life subsyndromal depression may have both physical and cognitive benefits, and further studies are merited (Rosenberg et al. 2010).

Technological Interventions

Various types of technological interventions are being studied in the field of mental health. The first type combines technological approaches with traditional approaches, such as Internet-based psychotherapies (traditional psychotherapies modified to increase accessibility and/or overcome barriers to successful participation) (Donker et al. 2013a) or exergaming (physical activity and cognitive stimulation through a technological interface) (Rosenberg et al. 2010). These technological interventions may also function independently, for example through mobile apps that can be developed not to require any provider intervention and that may be useful in the treatment of depressive symptoms (at least in the general population) as well as other mental health conditions (Donker et al. 2013b). These interventions, particularly mobile apps developed for other medical conditions that are frequently comorbid with depression and cognitive impairment, may also have behavioral and cognitive benefits. However, existing evidence is not yet persuasive. For example,

computer- and mobile-based devices for diabetes did not demonstrate improved cognitive or behavioral outcomes (Pal et al. 2013).

Another technological intervention may directly assist patients with performing duties, for example by using robots to serve as companions or assist with daily activities. Odetti et al. (2007) performed a preliminary study examining the acceptability of animaloid companion robots (animal-shaped robots that serve as substitute pets and can also be programmed to remind patients of daily activities such as taking pills or checking email) in patients with MCI and early dementia. Future studies are needed to determine whether these may also be beneficial for patients with late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment.

Religion and Spirituality

As cultural competency has gained importance in the field of psychiatry, the role of religion and spirituality in the treatment of depression in older adults continues to receive growing recognition in the medical establishment. One example of this growing recognition is the adaptation of manualized psychotherapy to incorporate spirituality and faith-based components. Ceramidas (2012) examined the feasibility of faith-based cognitive behavioral therapy in adults with late-life depression and comorbid cognitive impairment. Although the study was not sufficiently powered to demonstrate significantly different results on psychometric testing, and participation was limited due to some subjects' physical limitations, the subjects and the observing staff reported various positive interactions, which suggests that larger, more rigorous studies of faith-based cognitive behavioral therapy are merited.

Yoga is an ancient practice that is focused on spiritual development and helps to maintain a calm state of mind. Various schools have developed around different ways to achieve this state of mind and spiritual growth. One major theme that reverberates throughout many of these schools is the importance of regulated breathing through various postures to achieve the desired mental state. Despite some studies suggesting the value of yoga for spiritual, physical, and mental benefits, one major challenge in the interpretation of studies involving yoga as a potential therapeutic intervention is the differences between schools (Telles & Singh 2013). Despite significant methodological limitations such as small sample sizes and inadequate controls, a few studies suggest that yoga may reduce depressive symptoms in older adults, although cognitive effects have not been demonstrated (Patel et al. 2012). In a study examining the feasibility of yoga in older adults with cognitive impairment, Hariprasad et al. (2013) found that although participants had trouble remembering and completing the sequences of postures independently, most of them were able to perform the postures. Given this limitation, however, older participants may need modified yoga approaches and additional supervision to ensure successful participation.

Meditation, like yoga, is difficult to define with scientific rigor, because various schools were started within the traditional Eastern culture and were then adopted in Western culture. Authorities do not agree about the universal elements of meditation. Currently, the scientific literature defines meditation in two somewhat opposing fashions: the "method definition," in which meditation is viewed as a rigorous regimen of mental exercises, and the "state definition," in which meditation is viewed as the achievement of an alteration of consciousness or enhanced awareness after the practice of such mental exercises (Nash & Newberg 2013). Meditation alone has been proposed to positively affect a number of cognitive functions in older adults (such as executive functioning, attention, memory, and processing speed), but these studies (like those focusing on yoga) also have significant methodological limitations such as need for replication, sample size, and selective bias (Gard et al. 2014). Further rigorous studies will be needed to see how cognitive and physical limitations may affect the ability of older adults to participate.

Compared to meditation, yoga and tai chi contain an additional physical element that may be theoretically affecting mood and cognitive performance. Tai chi is a form of traditional Chinese martial arts that, like yoga, combines mindfulness and a sequence of graceful physical exercises to maintain ongoing movement in order to achieve stress reduction. A recent review strongly supports the use of tai chi in older adults with depression (Rogers et al. 2009). In a very promising study, 112 nondemented adults 60 and older with depression were treated with escitalopram for 4 weeks and then randomized to either health education or a modified, briefer version of tai chi (tai chi chih) as an adjunct treatment for 10 weeks. The subjects randomized to tai chi chih not only demonstrated greater improvement in physical functioning and decline in the inflammatory C-reactive protein, but they also showed some potential cognitive improvements in memory (Lavretsky et al. 2011). This suggests that modified tai chi (a both cognitively and physically demanding activity) has beneficial cognitive, psychological, and physical effects.

Music, Art, and Dance Therapy

Music therapy may improve depressive and cognitive symptoms in older adults (Cross et al. 2012, Hars et al. 2014). One promising randomized controlled trial showed that weekly multitask exercises with a rhythmic component improved cognitive performance and decreased anxiety (Hars et al. 2014). One study suggested that dance therapy and art therapy may also improve mood in older adults, but their utility in improving cognition has not been as well studied as for depression (McCaffrey et al. 2011, Murrock & Graor 2014).

In summary, most well-designed and implemented larger studies of holistic and nontraditional interventions for older adults have focused on interventions related to physical activity. Very few studies have examined the efficacy of nontraditional interventions in adults diagnosed with late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment. More rigorous, larger-scale studies will need to be performed for nontraditional interventions that appear promising. Another potential avenue for further exploration includes the use of nontraditional interventions as an adjunct to well-established traditional interventions.

PHARMACOLOGIC APPROACHES

Antidepressants

Investigators have found that antidepressants, which are the most widely used medications to treat depression in the midst of cognitive impairment, have differing effects on cognition in depressed older adults with comorbid cognitive impairment. Most of the recent literature on depression and cognition has focused on antidepressants that modulate the serotonin system, including selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and selective serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors. Studies have found mixed cognitive effects secondary to selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, suggesting different cognitive profiles for each type of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor. Barch et al. (2012) found that sertraline resulted in improvement in episodic memory and executive functioning, but there was no placebo group for comparison. On the other hand, citalopram was associated with difficulty with deficient response inhibition (one measure of executive functioning), verbal learning, and psychomotor speed (Pimontel et al. 2012, Sneed et al. 2010). Use of selective serotonin-norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors, which inhibit both serotonin and norepinephrine reuptake, may be associated with cognitive benefits. In one study, duloxetine was associated with improvement in a composite cognitive measure that included verbal learning and memory, attention, executive functioning, and working memory (Raskin et al. 2007); another study found

that levomilnacipran may have cognitive benefits (mainly attention and reaction time) in late-life depression, but this finding needs further confirmation (Wesnes et al. 2013). Paroxetine is usually avoided in geriatric patients with cognitive impairment because of its anticholinergic effects. We are not aware of any studies examining the cognitive effects of venlafaxine or milnaciprin in late-life depression.

Multimodal antidepressants that indirectly modulate glutamatergic neurotransmission by targeting the serotonergic system have been proposed to target both depression and cognitive systems, but this mechanism awaits further confirmation (Pehrson & Sanchez 2014). Vilazodone was approved by the FDA in 2011 for the treatment of MDD; it functions as both an SSRI and a 5HT1A receptor partial agonist. A clinical trial to determine a therapeutic range in nondemented patients with late-life depression is currently in progress (NCT01608295). Vortioxetine, which was approved in 2013 for the treatment of MDD, acts both by blocking serotonin activity and by modulating serotonin receptor activity. It works as a 5-HT3A and 5-HT7 receptor antagonist, 5-HT1B receptor partial agonist, 5-HT1A receptor agonist, and inhibitor of the serotonin transporter. In one trial in patients 65 and over, vortioxetine showed improvement not only in depressive symptoms compared to placebo, but also in processing speed, learning, and memory (Katona et al. 2012).

No recent studies have examined the cognitive effects of mirtazapine in late-life depression. Bupropion was associated with poorer cognitive performance in cognitively normal elders (Obermann et al. 2013). Although the use of tricyclic antidepressants is not as common as in the 1980s, tricyclic antidepressants are still useful in patients who have failed the more selective antidepressants and are still used for irritable bowel syndrome and chronic pain (such as migraine prophylaxis and neuropathic pain). As part of their side effect profile, tricyclic antidepressants can cause significant cognitive impairment due to anticholinergic effects. Nortriptyline and desipramine are the least anticholinergic among the tricyclic antidepressants and therefore are more commonly used, whereas amitriptyline, imipramine, and doxepin are the most anticholinergic among the tricyclic antidepressants (Khawam et al. 2006). Low-dose doxepin, however, is sometimes used as a sedative in older people.

In summary, none of two FDA quality studies that have independently replicated the same findings has shown that antidepressants can improve cognition in MDD (including late-life depression). Results of recent studies examining cognitive benefits for SSRIs and SNRIs in late-life depression are variable, and although there have been studies of bupropion, mirtazapine, and venlafaxine in late-life depression, they are now old. Antidepressants with anticholinergic effects may even have detrimental cognitive effects. Future studies are needed to confirm whether certain classes of antidepressants may have cognitive benefits in late-life depression with cognitive impairment (Keefe et al. 2014).

Nearly all of the studies conducted so far have focused on patients with acute depressive episodes. Very few studies have shown whether antidepressants improve cognition independent of effects on mood, so improvement of cognition from antidepressants may be potentially attributed to the remission of the depressive episode. Because cognitive deficits in remitted patients are different from cognitive deficits in acute depression, in order to demonstrate a drug-specific effect one would need to demonstrate that the drug improves cognition in fully remitted patients and that its effects are different from another active comparator drug. No drug has met this benchmark. Finally, there is no consensus on what degree of cognitive improvement is clinically meaningful, given that most studies have used statistical significance rather than clinical significance or ADL improvements.

Another caveat is that antidepressants may have a different effect in AD than in MCI; although antidepressants (including sertraline and citalopram) may have some potential use in agitation

in AD, their persistent use has also been associated with cognitive decline (Munro et al. 2012, Porsteinsson et al. 2014, Rosenberg et al. 2012). Potentially promising directions to treat both depressive and cognitive symptoms in older people include the investigation of new multimodal serotonergic antidepressants as well as vitamins and herbal supplements. Stimulants are another understudied area. Methylphenidate has also been used off-label for depression, and it may have benefits for apathy in AD in the absence of depressive features (Rosenberg et al. 2013); however, stimulants have not been shown to improve cognition in randomized controlled trials of MCI or AD. Additional studies will need to examine whether methylphenidate may have positive effects for older depressed adults with comorbid cognitive impairment.

Cholinesterase Inhibitors and N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Antagonists

Data on the use of cholinesterase inhibitors in older adults with MDD and comorbid MCI to either ameliorate cognitive deficits or prevent cognitive decline are limited, and the few available studies report conflicting findings in terms of cognitive and mood outcomes. Pelton et al. (2008) and Reynolds et al. (2011) found that donepezil may have some cognitive benefits in depressed patients with MCI, but Holtzheimer et al. (2008) did not. Furthermore, in a posthoc subgroup analyses, Reynolds et al. (2011) found that although donepezil might have potential cognitive benefits, it could also result in more depressive symptoms. Interestingly, Lu et al. (2009) also found that the addition of donepezil delayed progression of patients with MCI and depressive symptoms to AD, but not of patients with MCI without depressive symptoms. DOTCODE is an ongoing multisite, double-blind, randomized controlled trial to test whether the addition of donepezil to an open-label antidepressant treatment will decrease the conversion rate from MCI to dementia; the trial will also investigate secondary outcomes for various measures of cognition, mood, and functioning (Pelton et al. 2013).

Ketamine, an intravenous anesthetic, has been shown to have rapid antidepressant efficacy in younger adults with refractory MDD, and this has led to a recent interest in the examination of glutamatergic neurotransmission in depression (Pehrson & Sanchez 2014). However, one initial trial examining the efficacy of ketamine in late-life depression did not demonstrate any efficacy (Szymkowicz et al. 2014). Likewise, memantine, another N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist that is FDA-approved for the treatment of moderate to severe dementia, has also not been shown to have any efficacy as an adjunctive treatment for MDD in the geriatric population (Lenze et al. 2012, Smith et al. 2013, Zarate et al. 2006).

Vitamins and Herbal Supplements

Despite various studies focused upon the efficacy of vitamins and herbal supplements in populations with MCI or early AD and late-life depression, few investigators have examined the efficacy of these vitamins and supplements in populations with late-life depression and comorbid cognitive impairment. Sinn et al. (2012) found that in older patients with MCI, those who received an omega-3 supplement enriched with docosahexaenoic acid had improvements in both depressive symptoms and verbal fluency, whereas an omega-3 supplement enriched with eicosapentaenoic acid only improved depressive symptoms, which suggests differential effects for the various types of omega-3. Vitamin B12 and folic acid given together may also have positive effects in older adults with depressive symptoms and cognitive impairment (Walker et al. 2012). Despite some promising findings in studies examining the use of St. John's wort, ginkgo biloba, vitamin E, and S-adenosylmethionine in populations with either MCI and dementia or late-life depression,

there is little to no evidence concerning the use of these supplements in late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment.

BRAIN STIMULATION THERAPIES

Brain stimulation therapies are another modality used in the treatment of depression that utilizes electrical or magnetic energy to stimulate nerve cells. One major challenge in this field is the cognitive side effects of these therapies, especially ECT. Concern about these cognitive side effects has significantly limited the use of ECT and has led to the development of new brain stimulation therapies such as repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation and magnetic seizure therapy. The history of brain stimulation therapies began with the development of ECT in the 1930s (NIMH website). Since its introduction, ECT has been used to treat a wide range of neuropsychiatric disorders, including depression, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and catatonia. Whereas psychopharmacologic and specialized psychotherapies are employed as first-line treatments for depression, ECT is generally reserved for treatment-resistant depression or life-threatening depression (e.g., catatonia, severe lethality). Despite strong evidence of the rapid efficacy of ECT (especially in geriatric patients or patients with psychotic features), concerns that have limited widespread use of ECT as a first-line treatment include negative stigma in the lay media and post-ECT cognitive adverse effects.

Post-ECT cognitive adverse effects are time limited and include disorientation after each ECT session and anterograde and retrograde amnesia, which onset at the first session and can persist for up to 1 or 6 months after the last session (Lisanby 2007, McClintock et al. 2014). A recent meta-analysis showed that most cognitive side effects from ECT are time limited and may include decreases in processing speed, working memory, learning and memory, and executive functions (Semkovska & McLoughlin 2010). Interestingly, some preexisting cognitive difficulties associated with the neuropsychiatric disease may show improvement after ECT due in part to the resolution of the neuropsychiatric symptoms. Nevertheless, given the concerns about post-ECT cognitive impairment, modifications in electrode placement, pulse waveform, and dosage have been implemented over the years to minimize cognitive side effects while maintaining clinical benefit.

Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation uses an electromagnet rather than electrical current to stimulate brain regions. Two studies have demonstrated the feasibility and safety of using repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation for cognitive deficits in AD (Ahmed et al. 2012, Devi et al. 2014). In one of these studies, patients who received high-frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation compared to sham showed improvement on the Geriatric Depression Scale, MMSE, and independent activities of daily living (Ahmed et al. 2012). To the best of our knowledge, no studies have examined the therapeutic efficacy of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in a cohort of late-life depressed elderly with comorbid cognitive impairment, although this could be a promising area.

Magnetic seizure therapy is another novel brain stimulation therapy that utilizes the transcranial magnetic stimulation device to deliver a series of targetable magnetic pulses to select brain regions to generate seizures. The main advantage of magnetic seizure therapy is that by targeting select brain regions, the seizure is directed towards desirable areas while avoiding undesirable areas that could result in side effects. Like ECT, the patient requires general anesthesia, and various technical parameters (including magnetic coil configuration and placement, magnetic pulse parameters, and magnetic dosage) can be adjusted to maximize efficacy and minimize side effects. Optimization of the magnetic seizure therapy parameters is important to ensure optimal seizure induction and therefore efficacy of treatment. The mean age of participants in the studies that examined the utility

of magnetic seizure therapy was between mid-40s and mid-50s. The exception was a case report of a 66-year-old female patient with severe major depressive disorder and comorbid obsessive-compulsive disorder and anorexia nervosa. In this case, magnetic seizure therapy was shown to be effective with little to no cognitive side effects (Kosel et al. 2003).

In summary, there is evidence of short-term post-ECT cognitive adverse effects. Longer-term studies are needed to characterize the cognitive course post-ECT and identify which groups may be at higher risk for persistent cognitive difficulties. Although other brain stimulation therapies such as repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation and magnetic seizure therapy have been found to be cognitively benign, larger longitudinal studies are needed in older adults to confirm these initial findings. Due to the focus on post-ECT cognitive effects, the literature on brain stimulation therapies has been slanted towards the examination of neurocognitive effects after the stimulation therapy. To the best of our knowledge, no studies have examined the efficacy of any of these brain stimulation therapies in a dedicated cohort with a diagnosis of new-onset late-life depression with well-characterized comorbid cognitive impairment.

CONCLUSION

Whereas clinicians have long appreciated the syndrome of late-life depression and comorbid cognitive impairment, researchers continue to uncover the complex interplay of biological and environmental risk factors that result in the development of this syndrome in vulnerable individuals. And although late-life depression with comorbid cognitive impairment is one of the most common psychiatric syndromes in older adults, our knowledge about effective treatments is sparse. The current standard of care for late-life depression and comorbid cognitive impairment usually consists of a bedside examination, and whenever appropriate and available, of additional consultations with neuropsychologists and occupational therapists to address more complex questions of cognitive deficits and functional impairment. After the assessment, the clinician and the other members of the treatment team (which may include a psychologist, social worker, nurse, and/or depression care manager) create a treatment plan in collaboration with the patient and the family. The depressed individual usually receives an initial trial of an antidepressant and/or psychotherapies, and in severe or refractory cases, a trial of ECT or possibly another novel brain stimulation therapy. Clinicians select treatments based on their experience and the treatments' availability, which sometimes can result in prolonged suffering for both patients and families in severe or refractory cases.

There have been many promising developments recently, especially with respect to the characterization of late-life depression in terms of biomarkers, neuroimaging, and the growing number of late-life psychotherapies and holistic and nontraditional interventions for individuals with comorbid cognitive impairment. However, much work remains to be done to validate these findings in larger-scale clinical trials and community-based populations, especially among minorities and lower socioeconomic status groups who have traditionally underutilized mental health care due to limited access and stigma. Ongoing multisite clinical research in the field of early detection in AD and other dementias will also be the source of invaluable publicly available data to better understand the evolution of MCI in relation to neuropsychiatric symptoms, particularly depression.

Ideally, validated findings regarding treatment will be translated into clinical practice (despite funding limitations), given the frequency of the syndrome and the disability resulting from it. The future of evaluation and treatment design for late-life depression and comorbid cognitive impairment could incorporate other modalities, such as calculation of risk factor burden, genotyping, serum biomarkers, and neuroimaging, in order to better characterize the patient's prognosis (particularly with regards to suicidality) and improve selection of treatments and determination of

treatment response. Other important areas for development of future treatments are health services studies examining the incorporation of technology, such as telehealth or Internet-based versions of highly effective specialized psychotherapies, to ensure wider distribution of depression treatments, and the use of multimodal treatments combining pharmacologic treatments, psychotherapies, and holistic and nontraditional interventions to reduce the rate of treatment-resistant depression in older adults and to treat more effectively both cognitive and mood symptoms.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Drs. Jeffrey Browndyke, Yeates Conwall, Murali Doraiswamy, Miguel Gama-Sosa, Shawn McClintock, Jason Nieuwsma, and Moria Smoski for their invaluable expertise.

LITERATURE CITED

- Agganis BT, Weiner DE, Giang LM, Scott T, Tighiouart H, et al. 2010. Depression and cognitive function in maintenance hemodialysis patients. *Am. J. Kidney Dis.* 56:704–12
- Ahmed MA, Darwish ES, Khedr EM, El Serogy YM, Ali AM. 2012. Effects of low versus high frequencies of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on cognitive function and cortical excitability in Alzheimer's dementia. 7. Neurol. 259:83–92
- Alexopoulos GS, Hoptman MJ, Kanellopoulos D, Murphy CF, Lim KO, Gunning FM. 2012. Functional connectivity in the cognitive control network and the default mode network in late-life depression. J. Affect. Disord. 139:56–65
- Alexopoulos GS, Murphy CF, Gunning-Dixon FM, Latoussakis V, Kanellopoulos D, et al. 2008. Microstructural white matter abnormalities and remission of geriatric depression. *Am. 7. Psychiatry* 165:238–44
- Alexopoulos GS, Raue PJ, Kiosses DN, Mackin RS, Kanellopoulos D, et al. 2011. Problem-solving therapy and supportive therapy in older adults with major depression and executive dysfunction: effect on disability. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 68:33–41
- Am. Found. Suicide Prev. 2012. Facts and Figures. New York: Am. Found. Suicide Prev. https://www.afsp.org/understanding-suicide/facts-and-figures
- Am. Psychiatr. Assoc. 2013. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Arlington, VA: Am. Psychiatr. Publ. 5th ed.
- Anderson-Hanley C, Arciero PJ, Brickman AM, Nimon JP, Okuma N, et al. 2012. Exergaming and older adult cognition: a cluster randomized clinical trial. Am. 7. Prev. Med. 42:109–19
- Apostolova LG, Di LJ, Duffy EL, Brook J, Elashoff D, et al. 2014. Risk factors for behavioral abnormalities in mild cognitive impairment and mild Alzheimer's disease. *Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord.* 37:315–26
- Areán P, Hegel M, Vannoy S, Fan MY, Unuzter J. 2008. Effectiveness of problem-solving therapy for older, primary care patients with depression: results from the IMPACT project. Gerontologist 48:311–23
- Areán PA, Raue P, Mackin RS, Kanellopoulos D, McCulloch C, et al. 2010. Problem-solving therapy and supportive therapy in older adults with major depression and executive dysfunction. Am. J. Psychiatry 167:1391–98
- Arnold SE, Xie SX, Leung YY, Wang LS, Kling MA, et al. 2012. Plasma biomarkers of depressive symptoms in older adults. *Transl. Psychiatry* 3(2):e65
- Baba K, Baba H, Noguchi I, Arai R, Suzuki T, et al. 2010. Executive dysfunction in remitted late-life depression: Juntendo University Mood Disorder Projects (JUMP). 7. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 22:70–74

- Barch DM, D'Angelo G, Pieper C, Wilkins CH, Welsh-Bohmer K, et al. 2012. Cognitive improvement following treatment in late-life depression: relationship to vascular risk and age of onset. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 20:682–90
- Bhalla RK, Butters MA, Becker JT, Houck PR, Snitz BE, et al. 2009. Patterns of mild cognitive impairment after treatment of depression in the elderly. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 17:308–16
- Blank K. 2009. Older adults & substance use: new data highlight concerns. SAMHSA News, Jan-Feb. http://www.samhsa.gov/
- Blasko I, Kemmler G, Jungwirth S, Wichart I, Krampla W, et al. 2010. Plasma amyloid beta-42 independently predicts both late-onset depression and Alzheimer disease. *Am. 7. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 18:973–82
- Blazer D. 2003. Depression in late life: review and commentary. *J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 58(3):249–65 Bogner HR, Bruce ML, Reynolds CF 3rd, Mulsant BH, Cary MS, et al. 2007. The effects of memory, attention, and executive dysfunction on outcomes of depression in a primary care intervention trial: the PROSPECT
- and executive dysfunction on outcomes of depression in a primary care intervention trial: the PROSPECT study. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 22:922–29
- Bogner HR, Richie MB, de Vries HF, Morales KH. 2009. Depression, cognition, and apolipoprotein E genotype: latent class approach to identifying subtype. *Am. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 17:344–52
- Bratek A, Zawada K, Beil-Gawełczyk J, Beil S, Sozańska E, et al. 2014. Depressiveness, symptoms of anxiety and cognitive dysfunctions in patients with asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): possible associations with inflammation markers: a pilot study. *J. Neural. Transm.* In press. doi: 10.1007/s00702-014-1171-9
- Butters MA, Klunk WE, Mathis CA, Price JC, Ziolko SK, et al. 2008. Imaging Alzheimer pathology in late-life depression with PET and Pittsburgh Compound-B. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 22:261–68
- Byers AL, Yaffe K. 2011. Depression and risk of developing dementia. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 7:323-31
- Campbell GB, Whyte EM, Sereika SM, Dew MA, Reynolds CF, et al. 2014. Reliability and validity of the executive interview (EXIT) and quick EXIT among community dwelling older adults. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 22:1444–51
- Carreira K, Miller MD, Frank E, Houck PR, Morse JQ, et al. 2008. A controlled evaluation of monthly maintenance interpersonal psychotherapy in late-life depression with varying levels of cognitive function. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 23:1110–13
- Ceramidas DM. 2012. Faith-based cognitive behavioral therapy: easing depression in the elderly with cognitive decline. J. Christ. Nurs. 29:42–48
- Chan SS, Lyness JM, Conwell Y. 2007. Do cerebrovascular risk factors confer risk for suicide in later life? A case-control study. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 15:541–44
- Choi NG, Hegel MT, Marti CN, Marinucci ML, Sirrianni L, et al. 2014. Telehealth problem-solving therapy for depressed low-income homebound older adults. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 22(3):263–71
- Conwell Y, Van Orden K, Caine ED. 2011. Suicide in older adults. Psychiatr. Clin. N. Am. 34:451-68
- Cross K, Flores R, Butterfield J, Blackman M, Lee S. 2012. The effect of passive listening versus active observation of music and dance performances on memory recognition and mild to moderate depression in cognitively impaired older adults. *Psychol. Rep.* 111:413–23
- Dear BF, Zou J, Titov N, Lorian C, Johnston L, et al. 2013. Internet-delivered cognitive behavioural therapy for depression: a feasibility open trial for older adults. *Aust. N. Z. J. Psychiatry* 47:169–76
- Denburg NL, Cole CA, Hernandez M, Yamada TH, Tranel D, et al. 2007. The orbitofrontal cortex, real-world decision making, and normal aging. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1121:480–98
- Devi G, Voss HU, Levine D, Abrassart D, Heier L, et al. 2014. Open-label, short-term, repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in patients with Alzheimer's disease with functional imaging correlates and literature review. Am. J. Alzheimers Dis. Other Dement. 29(3):248–55
- Diniz BS, Teixeira AL, Machado-Vieira R, Talib LL, Gattaz WF, et al. 2013. Reduced serum nerve growth factor in patients with late-life depression. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 21:493–96
- Diniz BS, Teixeira AL, Miranda AS, Talib LL, Gattaz WF, et al. 2012. Circulating glial-derived neurotrophic factor is reduced in late-life depression. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 46:135–39
- Dombrovski AY, Szanto K, Clark L, Reynolds CF, Siegle GJ. 2013. Reward signals, attempted suicide, and impulsivity in late-life depression. JAMA Psychiatry 70(10):1020–30

- Dombrovski AY, Szanto K, Siegle GJ, Wallace ML, Forman SD, et al. 2011. Lethal forethought: delayed reward discounting differentiates high- and low-lethality suicide attempts in old age. Biol. Psychiatry 70:138–44
- Donker T, Batterham PJ, Warmerdam L, Bennett K, Bennett A, et al. 2013a. Predictors and moderators of response to internet-delivered interpersonal psychotherapy and cognitive behavior therapy for depression. 7. Affect. Disord. 151:343–51
- Donker T, Petrie K, Proudfoot J, Clarke J, Birch M, et al. 2013b. Smartphones for smarter delivery of mental health programs: a systematic review. 7. Med. Internet Res. 15:e247
- Doyle T, Palmer S, Johnson J, Babyak MA, Smith P, et al. 2013. Association of anxiety and depression with pulmonary-specific symptoms in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Int. J. Psychiatry Med.* 45:189–202
- Dubois B, Litvan I. 2000. The FAB: a frontal assessment battery at bedside. Neurology 55:1621-26
- Eden J, Le M, Maslow K, Blazer D, eds. 2012. The Mental Health and Substance Use Workforce for Older Adults: In Whose Hands? Washington, DC: Natl. Acad. Press
- Elias MF, Dore GA, Davey A. 2013. Kidney disease and cognitive function. Contrib. Nephrol. 179:42-57
- Erickson KI, Gildengers AG, Butters MA. 2013. Physical activity and brain plasticity in late adulthood. Dialogues Clin. Neurosci. 15:99–108
- Erickson KI, Miller DL, Roecklein KA. 2012. The aging hippocampus: interactions between exercise, depression, and BDNF. *Neuroscientist* 18:82–97
- Freiheit EA, Hogan DB, Eliasziw M, Patten SB, Demchuk AM, et al. 2012. A dynamic view of depressive symptoms and neurocognitive change among patients with coronary artery disease. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 69:244–55
- Frodl T, Carballedo A, Hughes MM, Saleh K, Fagan A, et al. 2012. Reduced expression of glucocorticoid-inducible genes GILZ and SGK-1: High IL-6 levels are associated with reduced hippocampal volumes in major depressive disorder. *Transl. Psychiatry* 2:e88
- Gard T, Hölzel BK, Lazar SW. 2014. The potential effects of meditation on age-related cognitive decline: a systematic review. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1307:89–103
- Hariprasad VR, Varambally S, Varambally PT, Thirthalli J, Basavaraddi IV, et al. 2013. Designing, validation and feasibility of a yoga-based intervention for elderly. *Indian 7. Psychiatry* 55:S344–49
- Hars M, Herrmann FR, Gold G, Rizzoli R, Trombetti A. 2014. Effect of music-based multitask training on cognition and mood in older adults. *Age Ageing* 43:196–200
- Holtzheimer PE, Meeks TW, Kelley ME, Mufti M, Young R, et al. 2008. A double blind, placebo-controlled pilot study of galantamine augmentation of antidepressant treatment in older adults with major depression. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 23:625–31
- Irie F, Masaki KH, Petrovitch H, Abbott RD, Ross GW, et al. 2008. Apolipoprotein E epsilon4 allele genotype and the effect of depressive symptoms on the risk of dementia in men: the Honolulu-Asia Aging Study. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 65:906–12
- Joosten-Weyn Banningh LW, Kessels RP, Olde Rikkert MG, Geleijns-Lanting CE, Kraaimaat FW. 2008. A cognitive behavioural group therapy for patients diagnosed with mild cognitive impairment and their significant others: feasibility and preliminary results. Clin. Rehabil. 22:731–40
- Katona C, Hansen T, Olsen CK. 2012. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, duloxetine-referenced, fixed-dose study comparing the efficacy and safety of Lu AA21004 in elderly patients with major depressive disorder. *Int. Clin. Psychopharmacol.* 27:215–23
- Katza R, De Sanctisa P, Mahoneya JR, Sehatpoura P, Murphy CF, et al. 2010. Cognitive control in late-life depression: response inhibition deficits and dysfunction of the anterior cingulate cortex. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 18:1017–25
- Keefe RS, McClintock SM, Roth RM, Doraiswamy PM, Tiger S, et al. 2014. Cognitive effects of pharmacotherapy for major depressive disorder: a systematic review. 7. Clin. Psych. 75(8):864–76
- Khawam EA, Laurencic G, Malone DA. 2006. Side effects of antidepressants: an overview. Clevel. Clin. J. Med. 73:351–53, 356–61
- Kiosses DN, Areán PA, Teri L, Alexopoulos GS. 2010. Home-delivered problem adaptation therapy (PATH) for depressed, cognitively impaired, disabled elders: a preliminary study. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 18:988–98

- Koenig AM, Bhalla RK, Meryl AB. 2014. Cognitive functioning and late-life depression. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 20:1–7
- Köhler S, Ashton CH, Marsh R, Thomas AJ, Barnett NA, O'Brien JT. 2011. Electrophysiological changes in late life depression and their relation to structural brain changes. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 23:141–48
- Köhler S, Thomas AJ, Lloyd A, Barber R, Almeida OP, et al. 2010a. White matter hyperintensities, cortisol levels, brain atrophy and continuing cognitive deficits in late-life depression. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 196:143–49
- Köhler S, van Boxtel MP, van Os J, Thomas AJ, O'Brien JT, et al. 2010b. Depressive symptoms and cognitive decline in community-dwelling older adults. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 58:873–79
- Kosel M, Frick C, Lisanby SH, Fisch HU, Schlaepfer TE. 2003. Magnetic seizure therapy improves mood in refractory major depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 28:2045–48
- Kowal P, Kahn K, Ng N, Naidoo N, Abdullah S, et al. 2010. Ageing and adult health status in eight lower-income countries: the INDEPTH WHO-SAGE collaboration. *Glob. Health Action* S2:11–22
- Krishnan KR, Taylor WD, McQuoid DR, MacFall JR, Payne ME, et al. 2004. Clinical characteristics of magnetic resonance imaging–defined subcortical ischemic depression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 55:390–97
- Kumar A, Kepe V, Barrio JR, Siddarth P, Manoukian V, et al. 2011. Protein binding in patients with late-life depression. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 68:1143–50
- Kurella M, Kimmel PL, Young BS, Chertow GM. 2005. Suicide in the United States end-stage renal disease program. J. Am. Soc. Nephrol. 16:774–81
- Lavretsky H, Alstein LL, Olmstead RE, Ercoli LM, Riparetti-Brown M, et al. 2011. Complementary use of tai chi chih augments escitalopram treatment of geriatric depression: a randomized controlled trial. Am. 7. Geriatr. Psychiatry 19:839–50
- Lavretsky H, Siddarth P, Kepe V, Ercoli LM, Miller KJ, et al. 2009. Depression and anxiety symptoms are associated with cerebral FDDNP-PET binding in middle-aged and older nondemented adults. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 17:493–502
- Lee GJ, Lu PH, Hua X, Lee S, Wu S, et al. 2012. Depressive symptoms in mild cognitive impairment predict greater atrophy in Alzheimer's disease-related regions. *Biol. Psychiatry* 71:814–21
- Lenze EJ, Sheffrin M, Driscoll HC, Mulsant BH, Pollock BG, et al. 2008. Incomplete response in late-life depression: getting to remission. *Dialogues Clin. Neurosci.* 10:419–30
- Lenze EJ, Skidmore ER, Begley AE, Newcomer JW, Butters MA, et al. 2012. Memantine for late-life depression and apathy after a disabling medical event: a 12-week, double-blind placebo-controlled pilot study. Int. 7. Geriatr. Psychiatry 27:974–80
- Lisanby SH. 2007. Electroconvulsive therapy for depression. New Engl. J. Med. 357:1939-45
- Lu PH, Edland SD, Teng E, Tingus K, Petersen RC, et al. 2009. Donepezil delays progression to AD in MCI subjects with depressive symptoms. Neurology 72:2115–21
- Mackin RS, Insel P, Tosun D, Mueller SG, Schuff N, et al. 2013. The effect of subsyndromal symptoms of depression and white matter lesions on disability for individuals with mild cognitive impairment. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 21:906–14
- Mackin RS, Nelson JC, Delucchi K, Raue P, Byers A, et al. 2014a. Cognitive outcomes after psychotherapeutic interventions for major depression in older adults with executive dysfunction. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 22:1496–503
- Mackin RS, Nelson JC, Delucchi KL, Raue PJ, Satre DD, et al. 2014b. Association of age at depression onset with cognitive functioning in individuals with late-life depression and executive dysfunction. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 22:1633–41
- Madsen K, Hasselbalch BJ, Frederiksen KS, Haahr ME, Gade A, et al. 2012. Lack of association between prior depressive episodes and cerebral [11C]PiB binding. *Neurobiol. Aging* 33:2334–42
- Manning KJ, Alexopoulos GS, Banerjee S, Shizuko Morimoto S, Seirup JK, et al. 2013. Executive functioning complaints and escitalopram treatment response in late-life depression. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry*. In press. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2013.11.005
- Marano CM, Workman CI, Lyman CH, Munro CA, Kraut MA, et al. 2015. Structural imaging in late life depression: association with mood and cognitive responses to antidepressant treatment. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 23:4–12
- McCaffrey R, Liehr P, Gregersen T, Nishioka R. 2011. Garden walking and art therapy for depression in older adults: a pilot study. *Res. Gerontol. Nurs.* 4:237–42

- McClintock SM, Choi J, Deng ZD, Appelbaum LG, Krystal AD, Lisanby SH. 2014. Multifactorial determinants of the neurocognitive effects of electroconvulsive therapy. *7. ECT* 30:165–76
- Metti AL, Cauley JA, Newman AB, Ayonayon HN, Barry LC, et al. 2013. Plasma beta amyloid level and depression in older adults. 7. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 68:74–79
- Miller MD, Reynolds CF 3rd. 2007. Expanding the usefulness of Interpersonal Psychotherapy (IPT) for depressed elders with co-morbid cognitive impairment. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 22:101–5
- Morimoto SS, Alexopoulos GS. 2013. Cognitive deficits in geriatric depression: clinical correlates and implications for current and future treatment. *Psychiatr. Clin. N. Am.* 36:517–31
- Mowszowski L, Hermens DF, Diamond K, Norrie L, Cockayne N, et al. 2014. Cognitive training enhances pre-attentive neurophysiological responses in older adults "at risk" of dementia. J. Alzbeimers Dis. 41(4):1095–108
- Munro CA, Longmire CF, Drye LT, Martin BK, Frangakis CE, et al. 2012. Cognitive outcomes after sertraline treatment in patients with depression of Alzheimer disease. *Am. 7. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 20:1036–44
- Murrock CJ, Graor CH. 2014. The effects of dance on depression, physical function, and disability in underserved adults. J. Aging Phys. Act. 22(3):380–85
- Naismith SL, Diamond K, Carter PE, Norrie LM, Redoblado-Hodge MA, et al. 2011. Enhancing memory in late-life depression: the effects of a combined psychoeducation and cognitive training program. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 19:240–48
- Naismith SL, Mowszowski L, Ward PB, Diamond K, Paradise M, et al. 2012. Reduced temporal mismatch negativity in late-life depression: an event-related potential index of cognitive deficit and functional disability? 7. Affect. Disord. 138:71–78
- Nash JD, Newberg A. 2013. Toward a unifying taxonomy and definition for meditation. Front. Psychol. 4:806Nasreddine ZS, Phillips NA, Bédirian V, Charbonneau S, Whitehead V, et al. 2005. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA): a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. 7. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 53:695–99
- Norrie LM, Diamond K, Hickie IB, Rogers NL, Fearns S, et al. 2011. Can older "at risk" adults benefit from psychoeducation targeting healthy brain aging? *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 23:413–24
- Obermann KR, Morris JC, Roe CM. 2013. Exploration of 100 commonly used drugs and supplements on cognition in older adults. Alzheimers Dement. 9:724–32
- Odetti L, Anerdi G, Barbieri MP, Mazzei D, Rizza E, et al. 2007. Preliminary experiments on the acceptability of animaloid companion robots by older people with early dementia. Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc. 2007:1816–19
- Pal K, Eastwood SV, Michie S, Farmer AJ, Barnard ML, et al. 2013. Computer-based diabetes self-management interventions for adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. 3:CD008776
- Patel NK, Newstead AH, Ferrer RL. 2012. The effects of yoga on physical functioning and health related quality of life in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. 7. Altern. Complement. Med. 18:902–17
- Pehrson AL, Sanchez C. 2014. Serotonergic modulation of glutamate neurotransmission as a strategy for treating depression and cognitive dysfunction. CNS Spectr. 19:121–33
- Pelton GH, Andrews H, Roose SP, Marcus SM, D'Antonio K, et al. 2013. Donepezil treatment of older adults with cognitive impairment and depression (DOTCODE study): clinical rationale and design. *Contemp. Clin. Trials* 37:200–8
- Pelton GH, Harper OL, Tabert MH, Sackeim HA, Scarmeas N, et al. 2008. Randomized double-blind placebo-controlled donepezil augmentation in antidepressant-treated elderly patients with depression and cognitive impairment: a pilot study. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 23:670–76
- Pimontel MA, Culang-Reinlieb ME, Morimoto SS, Sneed JR. 2012. Executive dysfunction and treatment response in late-life depression. *Int. 7. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 27:893–99
- Porsteinsson AP, Drye LT, Pollock BG, Devanand DP, Frangakis C, et al. 2014. Effect of citalopram on agitation in Alzheimer disease: the CitAD randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 311:682–91
- Potter GG, Wagner HR, Burke JR, Plassman BL, Welsh-Bohmer KA, et al. 2013. Neuropsychological predictors of dementia in late-life major depressive disorder. *Am. 7. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 21:297–306
- Radloff LS. 1977. The CES-D Scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. 7. Appl. Psychol. Meas. 1:385–401

- Raskin J, Wiltse CG, Siegal A, Sheikh J, Xu J, et al. 2007. Efficacy of duloxetine on cognition, depression, and pain in elderly patients with major depressive disorder: an 8-week, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Am. J. Psychiatry 164:900–9
- Reinlieb M, Ercoli LM, Siddarth P, St Cyr N, Lavretsky H. 2014. The patterns of cognitive and functional impairment in amnestic and non-amnestic mild cognitive impairment in geriatric depression. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 22:1487–95
- Reynolds CF 3rd, Butters MA, Lopez O, Pollock BG, Dew MA, et al. 2011. Maintenance treatment of depression in old age: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled evaluation of the efficacy and safety of donepezil combined with antidepressant pharmacotherapy. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 68:51–60
- Rogers CE, Larkey LK, Keller C. 2009. A review of clinical trials of tai chi and qigong in older adults. West. 7. Nurs. Res. 31:245–79
- Rosenberg D, Depp CA, Vahia IV, Reichstadt J, Palmer BW, et al. 2010. Exergames for subsyndromal depression in older adults: a pilot study of a novel intervention. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 18:221–26
- Rosenberg PB, Lanctôt KL, Drye LT, Herrmann N, Scherer RW, et al. 2013. Safety and efficacy of methylphenidate for apathy in Alzheimer's disease: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J. Clin. Psychiatry 74:810–16
- Rosenberg PB, Mielke MM, Han D, Leoutsakos JS, Lyketsos CG, et al. 2012. The association of psychotropic medication use with the cognitive, functional, and neuropsychiatric trajectory of Alzheimer's disease. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 27:1248–57
- Salloway S, Malloy P, Kohn R, Gillard E, Duffy J, et al. 1996. MRI and neuropsychological differences in early- and late-life-onset geriatric depression. *Neurology* 46:1567–74
- Sapolsky RM. 2000. Glucocorticoids and hippocampal atrophy in neuropsychiatric disorders. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 57:925–35
- Schönknecht P, Pantel J, Kaiser E, Thomann P, Schröder J. 2007. Increased tau protein differentiates mild cognitive impairment from geriatric depression and predicts conversion to dementia. *Neurosci. Lett.* 416:39–42
- Scogin F, Fairchild JK, Yon A, Welsh DL, Presnell A. 2014. Cognitive bibliotherapy and memory training for older adults with depressive symptoms. *Aging Ment. Health* 18:554–60
- Semkovska M, McLoughlin DM. 2010. Objective cognitive performance associated with electroconvulsive therapy for depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Biol. Psychiatry* 68:568–77
- Sharpe L, Gittins CB, Correia HM, Meade T, Nicholas MK, et al. 2012. Problem-solving versus cognitive restructuring of medically ill seniors with depression (PROMISE-D trial): study protocol and design. BMC Psychiatry 12:207
- Sheikh JI, Yesavage JA. 1986. Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS): recent evidence and development of a shorter version. In Clinical Gerontology: A Guide to Assessment and Intervention, ed. TL Brink, pp. 165–73. New York: The Haworth Press
- Sheline YI, Barch DM, Garcia K, Gersing K, Pieper C, et al. 2006. Cognitive function in late life depression: relationships to depression severity, cerebrovascular risk factors and processing speed. *Biol. Psychiatry* 60:58–65
- Sheline YI, Pieper CF, Barch DM, Welsh-Bohmer K, McKinstry RC, et al. 2010. Support for the vascular depression hypothesis in late-life depression: results of a 2-site, prospective, antidepressant treatment trial. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 67:277–85
- Sheline YI, Price JL, Vaishnavi SN, Mintun MA, Barch DM, et al. 2008. Regional white matter hyperintensity burden in automated segmentation distinguishes late-life depressed subjects from comparison subjects matched for vascular risk factors. Am. J. Psychiatry 165:524–32
- Singh B, Mielke MM, Parsaik AK, Cha RH, Roberts RO, et al. 2014. A prospective study of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and the risk for mild cognitive impairment. JAMA Neurol. 71(5):581–88
- Sinn N, Milte CM, Street SJ, Buckley JD, Coates AM, et al. 2012. Effects of n-3 fatty acids, EPA v. DHA, on depressive symptoms, quality of life, memory and executive function in older adults with mild cognitive impairment: a 6-month randomised controlled trial. *Br. 7. Nutr.* 107:1682–93
- Smith EG, Deligiannidis KM, Ulbricht CM, Landolin CS, Patel JK, et al. 2013. Antidepressant augmentation using the N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist memantine: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. 7. Clin. Psychiatry 74:966–73

- Sneed JR, Culang ME, Keilp JG, Rutherford BR, Devanand DP, et al. 2010. Antidepressant medication and executive dysfunction: a deleterious interaction in late-life depression. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 18:128– 35
- Sosa AL, Albanese E, Stephan BC, Dewey M, Acosta D, et al. 2012. Prevalence, distribution, and impact of mild cognitive impairment in Latin America, China, and India: a 10/66 population-based study. PLOS Med. 9:e1001170
- Spitzer R, Kroenke K, Williams J. 1999. Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: the PHQ Primary Care Study. 7. Am. Med. Assoc. 282:1737–44
- Steenland K, Karnes C, Seals R, Carnevale C, Hermida A, et al. 2012. Late-life depression as a risk factor for mild cognitive impairment or Alzheimer's disease in 30 US Alzheimer's disease centers. J. Alzheimers Dis. 31:265–75
- Steffens DC, McQuoid DR, Potter GG. 2009. Outcomes of older cognitively impaired individuals with current and past depression in the NCODE study. 7. Geriatr. Psychiatry Neurol. 22:52–61
- Steffens DC, Snowden M, Fan MY, Hendrie H, Katon WJ, et al. 2006. Cognitive impairment and depression outcomes in the IMPACT study. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 14:401–9
- Story TJ, Potter GG, Attix DK, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Steffens DC. 2008. Neurocognitive correlates of response to treatment in late-life depression. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 16:752–59
- Sullivan MD, Katon WJ, Lovato LC, Miller ME, Murray AM, et al. 2013. Association of depression with accelerated cognitive decline among patients with type 2 diabetes in the ACCORD-MIND trial. JAMA Psychiatry 70:1041–47
- Sun X, Chiu CC, Liebson E, Crivello NA, Wang L, et al. 2009. Depression and plasma amyloid beta peptides in the elderly with and without the apolipoprotein E4 allele. *Alzbeimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 23:238–44
- Szanto K, Clark L, Hallquist M, Vanyukov P, Crockett M, et al. 2014. The cost of social punishment and high-lethality suicide attempts in the second half of life. *Psychol. Aging* 29:84–94
- Szanto K, Dombrovski AY, Sahakian BJ, Mulsant BH, Houck PR, et al. 2012. Social emotion recognition, social functioning, and attempted suicide in late-life depression. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 20:257–65
- Szymkowicz SM, Finnegan N, Dale RM. 2014. Failed response to repeat intravenous ketamine infusions in geriatric patients with major depressive disorder. 7. Clin. Psychopharmacol. 34:285–86
- Tadayonnejad R, Ajilore O. 2014. Brain network dysfunction in late-life depression: a literature review. 7. Geriatr. Psychiatry Neurol. 27:5–12
- Taylor WD, Aizenstein HJ, Alexopoulos GS. 2013. The vascular depression hypothesis: mechanisms linking vascular disease with depression. Mol. Psychiatry 18:963–74
- Taylor WD, McQuoid DR, Payne ME, Zannas AS, Macfall JR, Steffens DC. 2014. Hippocampus atrophy and the longitudinal course of late-life depression. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 22:1504–12
- Telles S, Singh N. 2013. Science of the mind: ancient yoga texts and modern studies. *Psychiatr. Clin. N. Am.* 36:93–108
- Thompson DG, Kesler SR, Sudheimer K, Mehta KM, Thompson LW, et al. 2015. fMRI activation during executive function predicts response to cognitive behavioral therapy in older, depressed adults. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 23:13–22
- Walker JG, Batterham PJ, Mackinnon AJ, Jorm AF, Hickie I, et al. 2012. Oral folic acid and vitamin B-12 supplementation to prevent cognitive decline in community-dwelling older adults with depressive symptoms—the Beyond Ageing Project: a randomized controlled trial. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 95:194–203
- Wesnes K, Bose A, Gommoll C, Chen C. 2013. Effects of levomilnacipran SR on measures of attention in a phase 3 trial of major depressive disorder (MDD). Presented at NCDEU 53rd Meet., Am. Soc. Clin. Psychopharmacol., Hollywood, CA
- Wilson RS, Nag S, Boyle PA, Hizel LP, Yu L, et al. 2013. Brainstem aminergic nuclei and late-life depressive symptoms. 7AMA Psychiatry 70:1320–28
- Xie C, Li W, Chen G, Douglas Ward B, Franczak MB, et al. 2012. The co-existence of geriatric depression and amnestic mild cognitive impairment detrimentally affect gray matter volumes: voxel-based morphometry study. Behav. Brain Res. 235:244–50

- Yeh YC, Tsang HY, Lin PY, Kuo YT, Yen CF, et al. 2011. Subtypes of mild cognitive impairment among the elderly with major depressive disorder in remission. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 19:923–31
- Zahodne LB, Gongvatana A, Cohen RA, Ott BR, Tremont G. 2013. Are apathy and depression independently associated with longitudinal trajectories of cortical atrophy in mild cognitive impairment? *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 21:1098–106
- Zarate CA Jr, Singh JB, Quiroz JA, De Jesus G, Denicoff KK, et al. 2006. A double-blind, placebo-controlled study of memantine in the treatment of major depression. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 163:153–55



Contents

Thinking About Rumination: The Scholarly Contributions and Intellectual Legacy of Susan Nolen-Hoeksema Sonja Lyubomirsky, Kristin Layous, Joseph Chancellor, and S. Katherine Nelson	1
Clinical Dysfunction and Psychosocial Interventions: The Interplay of Research, Methods, and Conceptualization of Challenges Alan E. Kazdin	.25
Recent Advances in Autism Research as Reflected in DSM-5 Criteria for Autism Spectrum Disorder Catherine Lord and Somer L. Bishop	.53
A Theory of States and Traits—Revised Rolf Steyer, Axel Mayer, Christian Geiser, and David A. Cole	.71
Biological and Psychosocial Predictors of Postpartum Depression: Systematic Review and Call for Integration Ilona S. Yim, Lynlee R. Tanner Stapleton, Christine M. Guardino, Jennifer Hahn-Holbrook, and Christine Dunkel Schetter	.99
Shrinking the Gap Between Research and Practice: Tailoring and Testing Youth Psychotherapies in Clinical Care Contexts John R. Weisz, Lauren S. Krumholz, Lauren Santucci, Kristel Thomassin, and Mei Yi Ng	139
Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders: A Critical Review of the New Diagnostic Class **Jonathan S. Abramowitz and Ryan J. Jacoby	165
Clinical Features, Cognitive Biases, and Treatment of Body Dysmorphic Disorder Angela Fang and Sabine Wilhelm	187
The Development and Course of Bipolar Spectrum Disorders: An Integrated Reward and Circadian Rhythm Dysregulation Model *Lauren B. Alloy, Robin Nusslock, and Elaine M. Boland	213
Etiologic, Phenomenologic, and Endophenotypic Overlap of Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder Godfrey D. Pearlson	251

Developmental Dyslexia Robin L. Peterson and Bruce F. Pennington	283
Chronic Traumatic Encephalopathy: Historical Origins and Current Perspective Philip H. Montenigro, Daniel T. Corp, Thor D. Stein, Robert C. Cantu, and Robert A. Stern	309
Depression and Cognition in the Elderly Sophia Wang and Dan G. Blazer	331
fMRI Functional Connectivity Applied to Adolescent Neurodevelopment Monique Ernst, Salvatore Torrisi, Nicholas Balderston, Christian Grillon, and Elizabeth A. Hale	361
Emotion Regulation and Psychopathology Gal Sheppes, Gaurav Suri, and James J. Gross	379
Self-Reported Experiences of Discrimination and Health: Scientific Advances, Ongoing Controversies, and Emerging Issues Tené T. Lewis, Courtney D. Cogburn, and David R. Williams	Ю7
Indexes	
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 2–11	141
Cumulative Index of Article Titles, Volumes 2–11	145

Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology* articles may be found at http://www.annualreviews.org/errata/clinpsy